

Family Services of Peel – Peel Institute on Violence Prevention

# **HUMAN TRAFFICKING - A LITERATURE REVIEW**

September 2018

**Funded by the Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services** 



# **Acronyms**

CEDAW Convention on the Elimination of All forms of

Discrimination Against Women

FSP Family Services of Peel

HT Human Trafficking

HT AC Human Trafficking Advisory Committee

ILO International Labour Organization

MDG Millennium Development Goals

PIVP Peel Institute on Violence Prevention

PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

RCMP Royal Canada Mounted Police

TIP Trafficking In Persons

UNO United Nations Organization

UNODC United Nations Office of Drugs and Crime

VAW Violence Against Women

WHO World Health Organization

# **Table of Contents**

HUMAN TRAFFICKING – A LITERATURE REVIEW	3
1. Introduction	3
2. Methods	3
2.1 Inclusion	3
2.2 Exclusion	4
2.3 Limitations	4
3. Background	4
3.1 What is Human Trafficking?	4
3.2 Magnitude of the problem	6
3.3 Global approaches	8
3.4 Current Legislation	8
3.5 Women's Rights and Human Rights	9
3.6 Human Sex Trafficking Victims	9
3.7 Indigenous Girls/Women	10
3.8 Young Girls	11
3.9 Female, East Asian Migrant Workers	12
3.10Girls/Women with Disabilities	
3.11Sex trafficking and Prostitution: The Central Issue of Consent	
3.12Current Statistics on Human Trafficking	16
3.13A Move from the Street to Indoors	16
3.14Histories of Poverty and Sexual Abuse	
4 Needs/Recommendations	16
4.1 Emotional Support	17
4.2 Physical Healthcare	18
4.3 Peer-to-Peer Support	18
4.4 Family Support	19
4.5 Therapeutic Supports	20
4.6 Employment and Reintegration Services	20
4.7 Housing Services	21
4.8 Medical Service Screening Tools	
4.9 Rehabilitation and Substance Abuse Services	22
4.10Services for Men	22
4.11Proximity of Services	22
4.12Why Services are Not Used	22
4.13What Services are Lacking?	
4.14Training and Evaluation	
Conclusion	25
References	28

# **HUMAN TRAFFICKING – A LITERATURE REVIEW**

"We are all better off when we open the doors of opportunity for women and girls in all aspects of lifein law enforcement, in health services, in the judiciary and prosecutorial authorities, in border control and port control and at peace talks." Phumzile Mlambo-Ngcuka Executive Director of UN Women March 2018 (United Nations 2018)

#### 1. Introduction

The purpose of this review is to convey information and ideas on Human Trafficking that have been published by accredited scholars and researchers in Canada and worldwide, over the past 10 years. The review relates to the needs of survivors of Human Trafficking. It describes strengths, gaps and weaknesses of the existing and recommended services and programs designed to help survivors.

While there are various forms of human trafficking that require attention, this paper deals with trafficking for the purposes of sex work. The common denominator in human sex trafficking is the movement of victims across borders from poor nations to affluent nations; however, domestic human trafficking also exists (Bernat & Winkeller, 2010). Shining a light on this, Peel Police (in 2012) stated that over half of the human trafficking cases in Canada have occurred in Peel Region, including both Mississauga and Brampton.

#### 2. Methods

The following criteria were applied to the literature review research:

#### 2.1 Inclusion

- Peer-reviewed articles and grey literature that explore human trafficking, the needs of victims
  of human trafficking, the services in place to help these victims and the aspects missing from
  these services.
- Studies from global, North American, Canadian, and local perspectives
- Peer-to-peer support methods
- Studies published from 2007 to 2018

#### 2.2 Exclusion

- Violence from labour trafficking
- Articles not published in English
- Literature on legislation and punishment of traffickers

Databases	Search Terms Used
Google Scholar	Human Trafficking; physical health; mental health; women's
	rights; human rights; needs; services OR programs; violence
	against women; peer-to-peer support; moral support; Post-
	traumatic stress disorder (PTSD); determinants of health
CINAHL	Human Trafficking; women OR men; PTSD; anxiety OR
	depression; needs; services; violence against women
ProQuest	Human Trafficking; needs; services; Mental health; PTSD;
	anxiety OR depression
Scholars Portal	Human Trafficking; men OR women; needs; services; peer-to-
	peer support; moral support; PTSD
EBSCO	Human Trafficking; needs; services; peer-to-peer support;
	violence; human rights; women's rights; PTSD
PubMed	Human Trafficking; needs; services; peer-to-peer support;
	violence; human rights; women's rights; health, PTSD

#### 2.3 Limitations

There are several limitations to this literature review. For example, numerous studies do not have large enough sample groups, and cannot, therefore, be accurately applied to larger populations. Additionally, the articles included in this literature review were composed solely in English, restricting studies from parts of the world, where articles were published in other languages. As human trafficking is a worldwide issue, this represents a significant limitation to the quantity of sources otherwise available.

#### 3. Background

#### 3.1 What is Human Trafficking?

There are several definitions of Human Trafficking:

1. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) Article 3, paragraph (a) of the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons defines Trafficking in Persons as the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons, by means of the threat

or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at a minimum, the exploitation or the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual exploitation, forced labour or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, servitude or the removal of organs (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 2018)

- 2. [T]he recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons, by means of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation (World Health Organization, 2012).
- 3. "Trafficking in persons involves the recruitment, transportation, harbouring and/or control of the movement of persons for the purpose of exploitation, typically for sexual exploitation or forced labour. Victims are required to provide (or offer to provide) their services or labour as a result of conduct that, in all the circumstances, could reasonably be expected to cause the victim to fear for their own safety or for the safety of someone known to them if they refuse to provide that service or labour. Victims suffer physical, sexual and/or emotional abuse and often live and work in horrific conditions." A Handbook for Criminal Justice Practitioners on Trafficking in Persons, Federal/Provincial/Territorial Working Group on Trafficking in Persons, (Department of Justice. Canada 2015).
- 4. "Human trafficking involves the recruitment, transportation, harbouring and/or exercising control, direction or influence over the movements of a person in order to exploit that person, typically through sexual exploitation or forced labour. It is often described as a modern form of slavery", (Canada's National Action Plan to Combat Trafficking. April 1 2015 –March 3, 2016).

The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) demonstrated the difference between international human trafficking and domestic human trafficking.

"A distinction between international and domestic human trafficking is made by the RCMP for law enforcement purposes, in order to determine the application of the appropriate piece of legislation as well as determine the jurisdictions based on law enforcement mandates."

The RCMP defines these two concepts as follows:

- International Human Trafficking: "involves someone, who, in the process of being trafficked, crosses an international border, regardless of the victim's immigration status. The legality or illegality of border crossing in this case is irrelevant."

- **Domestic Human Trafficking**: "is the phenomenon in which all stages of trafficking occur within Canada, regardless of the victim's legal status. Vulnerable, economically challenged and socially dislocated sectors of the Canadian population represent a potential pool of domestic trafficking victims". RCMP National Strategy to Combat Human Trafficking, Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP National Strategies to Combat Trafficking. 2012)

For this literature review, we have chosen the following definition:

"Human trafficking is the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons by improper means (such as force, abduction, fraud, coercion, deception, repeated provision of a controlled substance) for an illegal purpose, including sexual exploitation or forced labour.", Ontario Taking Steps to End Human Trafficking, (Ontario Ministry of the Status of Women. 2016)

# 3.2 Magnitude of the problem

Human trafficking is a social issue of growing concern across the globe. The estimated number of individuals affected by human trafficking worldwide is 20.9 million people (Hemmings et al., 2016). It is the fastest growing area of organized crime and the third largest income revenue stream for systematized crime, after narcotics and arms sales. The global sex trade is worth around \$32 billion annually. What makes this business unique is that women and girls sold into sex trafficking earn profits for their pimps and traffickers over a great number of years, unlike the profits earned from drugs and narcotics that are sold and used only once. (Deshpande & Nawal, 2013).

The data from the International Labour Organization (ILO) map trafficking victims and profits by region. This data indicated that there are approximately 20.9 million victims worldwide. There is not specific data on Canada. The information provided by ILO indicates that in the U.S. alone, the profit is \$49.9 billion annually. However, except for a brief explanation by the ILO, it is unclear how these figures

were derived. It is clear, though, that in the case of human trafficking, no one really knows the true value of the trade. (Andreas & Greenhill, 2010).

There are many questions raised in the literature about the inadequacy of human trafficking statistics. The responses are often linked to the fact that human trafficking is a "hidden" phenomenon because it is illegal. (Andreas, & Greenhill, 2010). While trafficking in persons has become a worldwide concern, current data collection activities reveal many shortcomings: data are limited in scope, incomparable and insufficient to ascertain the true extent of the problem in Canada. (National Crime Prevention Centre of Public Safety Canada, 2009).

Human Trafficking has been defined as a process, not an event. If we are to have any long-term impact on the problem, we must use research to identify the most cost-effective areas of intervention. Compared with the complex nature of prevention, prosecution may seem a relatively simple area to track. However, although prosecution can be essential for a sense of justice ("bad people should be punished for doing bad things"), there is no nation in which prosecution can be shown to have reduced the aggregate amount of trafficking, including United States and Canada. (Mohajerin, 2011).

Traffickers and/or pimps commonly recruit potential victims who are either economically or socially vulnerable. (Hodge, 2008). This includes women and girls who are susceptible to poverty, societal isolation, drug addiction, and violence in the family, history of child abuse, family dysfunctions, school failure, and history of criminal behavior. It may also include orphans, women with mental and physical disabilities, aboriginal women, and those who are illiterate. (Dovydaitis, 2010).

Sex trafficking involves some form of forced or coerced sexual exploitation that is not limited to prostitution. It has become a significant and growing problem in both Canada and the larger global community. The cost to society includes the degradation of human and women's rights, poor public health, disrupted communities, and diminished social development. Victims of sex trafficking acquire adverse physical and psychological health conditions and social disadvantages. Thus, sex trafficking is a critical social and health issue that requires social, medical and legal attention. (Deshpande & Nour, 2013). Virtually every country in the world is affected by these crimes. The challenge for all countries, rich and poor, is to target the criminals who exploit desperate people and to protect and assist victims of trafficking and smuggled migrants, many of whom endure unimaginable hardships in their bid for a better life.

As the only United Nations entity focusing on the criminal justice element of these crimes, the work done by UNODC to combat human trafficking and the smuggling of migrants is underpinned by the United Nations Convention on Transnational Organized Crime and its protocols on trafficking in persons and migrant smuggling. (UNODC, 2018).

# 3.3 Global approaches

Female Human Trafficking is being addressed in the new (Strategy for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women for the United Nation on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) 61st session of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs 2008). The gender equality strategy, the first one for UNODC, sets out a framework, which takes into account the needs of women and girls, when tackling drugs and crime. It sets institutional standards and outlines a comprehensive set of commitments on gender equality over the next four years, which will help improve the lives of women and girls through the work of UNODC and UNOV.

#### 3.4 Current Legislation

According to the Canadian Department of Justice, Human Trafficking is a very serious criminal offence with very serious penalties. There are specific criminal laws against trafficking in persons (TIP) in the Criminal Code. Two offences in the *Criminal Code* specifically address human trafficking:

- a. Trafficking in Persons (<u>section 279.01</u>): which carries a maximum penalty of life imprisonment and a mandatory minimum penalty of 5 years where the offence involved kidnapping, aggravated assault, aggravated sexual assault or death, and a maximum penalty of 14 years and a mandatory minimum penalty of 4 years in all other cases;
- b. Trafficking of a person under the age of eighteen years (section 279.011) which carries a maximum penalty of life imprisonment and a mandatory minimum penalty of 6 years where the offence involved kidnapping, aggravated assault, aggravated sexual assault or death, and a maximum penalty of 14 years and a mandatory minimum penalty of 5 years in all other cases (Justice).

# 3.5 Women's Rights and Human Rights

This review applied a theory of change, which asserts that women's rights are human rights and that progressive changes happen when diverse and independent women's movements have vision, strength, resilience and collective power (Women Kind, 2018). Several Global Agreements, such as the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW, 1979), represent substantial victories for the promotion and protection of women's rights. But this has not created a shift in gender relations; instead, the power dynamics that drive inequality between women and men remain in force at all levels. (UN Women, 2015). One of the most pervasive forms of abuse against women is Human Trafficking. Reviews of progress made under the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and the Beijing Platform for Action highlighted the lack of political will and the lack of investment, which stifled the creation, revision and implementation of national level laws, in accordance with international instruments and agreements on women's rights. While progress was achieved for some women, profound inequalities remain for women of marginalised groups, who face multiple and intersecting discrimination because of their gender and other aspects of their identity (Paz Arauco, 2014).

# 3.6 Human Sex Trafficking Victims

Human Trafficking is acknowledged to be a global human rights violation. Trafficking represents "a denial of the person's rights to liberty, integrity, security and freedom of movement" (Veljanoski & Stewart, 2007). Besides being a human rights violation, it is an issue of violence against women and a violation of women's rights. As stated in a report by the Peel Institute on Violence Prevention, "Women's rights are human rights" (2017).

According to the National Human Trafficking Hotline (n.d.), there are 20.9 million victims of human trafficking globally. The victims of human trafficking include men and women; however, women represent the majority. "Although men may also be impacted by such forms of violence, women continue to be the primary victims of these abuses, thus making gender a key health determinant of violence" (Riutort, Rupnarain & Masoud, n.d). Victims of human trafficking have diverse educational and economic backgrounds, but individuals in vulnerable states, such as low economic status, will have increased vulnerability of becoming victims of human trafficking.

Understanding the roots of vulnerability is invaluable, whether safeguarding young people from exploitation or helping them escape it. Ethnicity and socioeconomic status have some bearing, but the more helpful risk indicators are as follows:

- Female adolescent
- Absent or inattentive father
- Neglect or parental dysfunction
- Parental substance abuse/addictions
- Abuse: emotional, physical or sexual
- Depression or other mental health issues
- Social difficulties/lack of stable peer relations
- Developmental challenges
- Use of drugs/alcohol by the young person
- Estrangement from family, including homelessness and foster care (Cassells, 2017)

While there is no single profile of a victim of human trafficking, there are many common risk factors, including gender, age, race, and economic and social status. Overall, there is no one determinant to define who will become a victim of human trafficking, but as stated by Riutort, Rupnarain & Masoud (n.d.), "To understand fully the status of an individual, multiple determinants impacting the individual must be recognized" (pg. 6). We have identified four key populations that are particularly at-risk of being trafficked: (1) Indigenous girls/women, (2) young girls, (3) female, East Asian migrant workers, and (4) girls/women with disabilities.

# 3.7 Indigenous Girls/Women

"Several studies on human trafficking in Canada have concluded that the majority of people trafficked for sex within Canada are Aboriginal" (Barrett, 2013, pg.14-15). This trend has been noted in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba. Majority of the population of sexually exploited women and girls in these areas are Aboriginal, which is significant when comparing the percentage of people of Aboriginal descent to the rest of the population. For example, in Winnipeg, 70-80% of

exploited children are Aboriginal, whereas only 10% of the population in Winnipeg is Aboriginal. In Vancouver, 40-60% of the prostituted women and girls are Aboriginal, whereas only 10% of the population is Aboriginal. And in Edmonton, 60% of its victims are Aboriginal, although they represent only 5% of its total population (Barrett, 2013). This causes concern because, "the RCMP reports that the majority of identified domestic sex trafficking victims in Canada are Caucasian, Canadian females between 14 and 22 years old who are recruited to work in the sex industry" (Barrett, 2013). This demonstrates that they are not accurately depicting the victims of sex trafficking, which makes it difficult to prevent the frequency of occurrences of these crimes.

In Canada, there exists local and national trafficking which include women and girls from Aboriginal communities, which are particularly vulnerable (Trafficking in Persons Report, 2016). In many provinces, such as British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba, over 50% of the trafficking victims are from an Aboriginal women and girls (Barrett, 2013). Indigenous communities are often targets of discrimination, suffering from the difficult legacy of colonization. Due to this discrimination, Indigenous women are more likely than other, non-Indigenous Canadians, to experience discrimination, poverty, poor living conditions, and violent crimes. As well, they are less able to leave violent circumstances (The National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls, 2017). In addition, police and justice systems contributes to violence against Indigenous women and girls, because they fail to adequately protect them from this violence and hold perpetrators accountable (The National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls, 2017). Therefore, simply being Indigenous and female can put someone at risk for violence. This helps to explain why many of the victims of human sex trafficking in Canada are of Aboriginal descent.

#### 3.8 Young Girls

Reports from service providers and the Canadian courts show that the average age of victims is younger than in previous years, averaging around 13-14 years old (Barrett, 2013). "It is thought that traffickers seek younger victims, both to service a demand for sex with those who look young, and because younger victims are easier to manipulate and control (Barrett, 2013). Stats Canada has reported that in 2014, there were 206 reports of human trafficking in Canada, with 93% of the victims being female, 47% between the ages of 18 and 24, and 25% under the age of 18 (Stats Canada, 2014). In communities across Canada, untold numbers of young women are involved in escort services, street walking, exotic massage, stripping and pornography. (Cassels, 2017). These common activities strip away

"human dignity" and have a "disproportionate impact on women and children". (Government of Canada-Protection of Communities and Exploited Persons Act. 2014). Despite the resulting extreme emotional and physical toll, many young women will remain in the industry for some time. It can be extremely devastating for family and friends to watch this happen, and it can also be confusing to understand why the girls don't just come home. None remain unscathed. The damage inflicted can be severe.

While society's acceptance of nonconforming behaviours has grown, many young people have adopted a casual view of commercial sex. As a result, more young people from functional homes are participating in sex industry activities than ever before. It is fast money for seductive lure. Once a girl is entrenched in the sex industry, low paying jobs seem untenable. The ideas of designer clothing, expensive gifts and fast cars are enticing to these young girls. Intrigued, these young women fall victim to the fast paced and unpredictable trade. (Cassells, 2017). Young girls who are also yearning for validation, especially from fathers, may feel an emotional need which is met by the sex trade and the false bond they form with their pimp. Counterfeit love is prevalent in this trade. The most common approach utilized by Canadian traffickers is the illusion of love. False promises of gifts and special treatment misleadingly point to a happy future that does not involve working minimum wage jobs... Younger girls and those with developmental challenges are especially vulnerable to such tactics by the pimp. Some of the emotional tactics include: brainwashing, isolation, blame, shame, threats, controlled movements, normalization, and fear of rejection and lack of options. In addition, runaway and homeless youth as well as lesbian, gay, transgender and bisexual individuals are placed at an increased risk of human trafficking (National Center of Safe Supportive Learning Environments, 2017). Violence and torture are frequently used in the sex industry. Acts of violence or torture may be used to physically overpower the victims or achieve submission by pain and fear. Trauma, debt, drugs and alcohol are also some of the reasons why women to stay in the industry (Cassels, 2017).

# 3.9 Female, East Asian Migrant Workers

One of the greatest challenges in the fight against human trafficking is lifting the veil of silence that allows this oppressive behavior to flourish. Lack of understanding regarding the scope and severity of the problem has contributed to its dramatic rise. Traffickers have benefitted from the lack of public awareness by entrapping more victims and avoiding the consequences of law enforcement officials and the judicial system.

Today, human trafficking- its scope, its incidence, and its impact are unprecedented (Morency, 2004) through deception, women are promised better lives in Canada. Women are initially offered legitimate jobs in hotels, restaurants, and even as nannies (John Hopkins project online). False positions have been advertised in newspapers, through legitimate employment agencies, in magazines, and on the internet. These illusionary promises turn into horrendous nightmares, when victims are brought into brothels and massage parlours, and forced into prostitution.

There is a growing number of massage parlours in the Region of Peel. At the very least, one massage parlour can be seen to exist in any one of the multitude of industrial complexes. Asian women are represented in large numbers in this sector. A typical case of international trafficking was reported by the Canadian Press in November 2017. It was alleged that a woman arrived in Toronto in May 2016 for a job as receptionist, but, instead, was offered a job as masseuse in a massage parlour, because the receptionist position was no longer available. Investigators allege that she was then coerced into selling sexual services, while providing massages. Her passport was taken from her, and the accused convinced her to turn over all the money she earned to him for safekeeping. The investigators allege that she was violently choked and assaulted when she confronted the accused. The woman's passport was discovered on Oct. 19, when police executed search warrants at several locations in Toronto (CTV News, 2017).

There is a notable increase in the exploitation of Asian women across Canada. "The RCMP's 2010 threat assessment cited Montreal, Calgary, Edmonton, Ottawa, Toronto and Vancouver as cities of concern, with some women being transported between these cities and possibly to the US to engage in prostitution" (Barrett, 2013, pg. 16). It has been noted that these women were foreign nationals, as well as being Canadian citizens, and that most of these women ranged in age from 20-46 years old, unlike the Aboriginal cases (Barrett, 2013). There is also a reluctance of cooperation from Asian trafficking victims, with complex reasoning involving cultural values.

Women and children are also trafficked from Central America and South America as well as from Eastern Europe. Some of these individuals remain in Canada, while others are smuggled into the United States. An article published by NOW magazine in 2015 reported that six sex workers, who were members of Butterfly (Asian and Migrant Sex Workers Network, 2018), were arrested, detained and deported that year. In the year 2016, three Asian women were found dead in Hamilton and Mississauga areas. Like many sex workers, the women from Butterfly believe that violence against them is a direct result of anti-

prostitution laws and anti-trafficking campaigns which target Asian sex workers. "This creates a climate of fear for sex workers (and) they choose to work in locations that are less visible and with fewer safety protections" quoted from the NOW magazine article by Elene Lam from Fleur de Lit organization. (Lam, 2016).

Sex workers want to avoid contact with law enforcement. The Federal, provincial, regional and local governments have allocated millions of dollars to combat human trafficking, while at the same time, refusing to finance safety measures to protect women working in the sex industry. Much of the government funding "has been allocated to police and law enforcement to use to conduct periodic investigations and raids on sex work establishments in the name of anti- human trafficking" (Lam, 2016). These conditions encourage women to work and live in isolation and to avoid mainstream service protections. They encourage the targeting of migrant sex workers and create a climate of impunity for predators who are aware of the vulnerabilities the workers face because of their risks of deportation (Lam, 2016).

#### 3.10 Girls/Women with Disabilities

Few researchers have examined sex trafficking of women with disabilities. A recent study done in the U.S. reveals a disproportionate risk for exploitation for girls with intellectual disabilities. This includes endangering circumstances which create vulnerability and the perpetrator-victim dynamics that complicate prevention and intervention. Some specific vulnerabilities include lack of awareness of exploitation on the part of the victim, the inability of victims to self-identify the exploitation, and the relative ease with which traffickers manipulate these girls and women.

Physical consequences of trafficking may include pregnancy, sexually transmitted diseases, bruises, lacerations and other physical injuries. Psychological consequences may include depression, anxiety, panic attacks, low self-esteem, shame and guilt, irrational fear, and loss of trust. Behavioural consequences are withdrawal, aggressiveness, self-injuries and sexually inappropriate behaviour. Intellectual Disabilities impair functioning in three domains, according to the American Psychiatric Association. (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Perpetrators are frequently family members, acquaintances, or persons considered as "dates", with only 8% of perpetrators identified as strangers. Due to the higher vulnerability of individuals with

disabilities, manipulated by those they consider as friends or caregivers, several researchers coined the term "mate crime" to describe the faux – friendship strategy used by offenders to exploit those with intellectual vulnerabilities. (Reid & Joan, 2018). Typical scenarios include persons with disabilities being taken advantage of by friends, who, often turn out to be recent acquaintances. Persons with disabilities have their flats turned into crack dens; their residences are used to store stolen goods; and "women with learning disabilities are being pimped (sent to work as a prostitute) by their 'boyfriends''. (Grundy, 2011; Landman. 2014).

One of the strategies used by the "friend" is to move into the home of a woman with disabilities, under the pretense of being there to help. In reality, they are taking advantage of the relationship to get access to food, clothing, and drugs, or they manipulate individuals to involve and exploit them in criminal activities including sex crimes and prostitution. (Butera, 2013).

There is a common belief that women with disabilities are not sexually active. This belief increases their susceptibility to sex trafficking. For example, women with disabilities may be assumed to be virgins and therefore, targeted for sex trafficking for those seeking to buy or sell sex with a virgin (Groce, 2004; Phasha & Myaka, 2014: Reid, Huard, & Haskell, 2015).

Information is critically needed regarding the disproportionate risk for exploitation of girls and women with disabilities, the circumstances that facilitate human trafficking among this population, and the perpetrator-victim dynamics that make it difficult to develop prevention programs and deterrence services. These complex dynamics include victim lack of awareness of exploitation and its endangerments, the inability of victims to self-identify, and the ease with which the traffickers manipulate these individuals.

#### 3.11 Sex trafficking and Prostitution: The Central Issue of Consent

If a woman's consent to emigrate freely to another country often makes the legal identification of trafficking unclear, it becomes even more complex when this migratory strategy includes an independent decision to work as a prostitute in the host country. When a girl of high school age agrees to go into prostitution to increase her buying power of expensive goods, she can end up being trafficked from one place to another or from a country to the next. The relationship between prostitution and trafficking and the distinction, where it exists, between enforced and voluntary prostitution, are controversial matters. (Boaventura, Gomes & Duarte, 2010). Prostitution is engaging in sexual activity with someone by choice

for payment. Unlike sex-trafficked victims, society does not usually look favorably upon those in the business of prostitution. (Carter, 2017). Women being trafficked in the ever-growing global sex industry are recognized as "true" victims. Clearly, human trafficking is the illegal movement of people, typically for the purposes of forced labor or commercial sexual exploitation. (Carter, 2017). Rightfully so, we have waged a war on human trafficking, which is commonly seen as modern-day slavery. However, there appears to be a thin-line between the two situations: prostitution and being trafficked for sex.

#### 3.12 Current Statistics on Human Trafficking

In 2014, the National Task Force on Trafficking Women and Girls in Canada collected information on sex trafficking across the country from key stakeholders that depicts a more accurate portrait of human trafficking in Canada. Information from British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, and Halifax has determined several trends that can be identified (Elislambouly, 2018).

#### 3.13 A Move from the Street to Indoors

"The solicitation of sex for purchase has moved from the streets to behind closed doors, facilitated by internet advertising sales" (Barrett, 2013). This move is particularly concerning because it makes it more difficult for law enforcement or others to spot these victims, and facilitates the sale of younger victims (Barrett, 2013).

#### 3.14 Histories of Poverty and Sexual Abuse

Trafficked women are most often economically poor, with histories of physical and sexual abuse. Many come from homes that lack positive masculine influence, which at this point, has not been generally discussed in sex trafficking literature (Barrett, 2013).

# 4 Needs/Recommendations

Minimal evidence-based research exists on the needs of victims of human trafficking, and the services that are available to them. It is significant that the health needs of this population are similar to the needs of other marginalized groups, such as migrant labourers, victims of sexual abuse or domestic violence, and victims of torture (Williamson, Dutch & Clawson, 2008). Because there is little research reported, similar populations can be examined to provide a foundation for the treatment of this population (Williamson et al., 2008).

The effects of human trafficking can result in numerous physical, emotional and mental health needs for survivors; these effects are substantial and long-term (Powell, Asbill, Louis & Stoklosa, 2017). Based on the literature, there are various needs of victims of human trafficking, and not all survivors require the same interventions. In the research, there are common needs seen among most victims of human trafficking. These include "emotional and moral support, legal assistance, safe housing, high school diploma or General Education Diploma assistance, identification documentation, job training, resume and job search assistance, medical and dental appointments, cell phone assistance, child care, transportation, safety planning, and clothing and food assistance" (Wirsing, 2012). However, this does not include everything, and new needs may arise with each client.

#### 4.1 Emotional Support

Emotional and mental health needs may be the most critical of them all, as it is the most debilitating on their everyday lives. All of the literature emphasizes that many survivors experience Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), depression, anxiety, self-hatred, dissociation, despair, and difficulty with interpersonal and intimate relationships (Williamson et al., 2008). In addition to this, survivors have been known to suffer from other mood disorders, including panic attacks, obsessive compulsive disorders, fearfulness, and hopelessness about the future (Williamson et al., 2008). In one study of over 100 trafficked women, 41.5% reported attempted suicide (Powell et al., 2017). Victims of human trafficking have often been involved in very traumatic experiences, such as extreme violence, death threats, serious injury, rape, and psychological abuse (Global Alliance Against Trafficking in Women, n.d.). Having been exposed to this type of trauma may lead to a multitude of emotional and psychological symptoms. It is, however, important to remember that not all victims experience trauma in the same way.

Many victims of human trafficking require immediate and ongoing emotional support and psychological assistance. This goes beyond focusing on the victim post-trafficking, and extends to the victim's earlier life experiences. Many individuals who are trafficked have experienced high levels of sexual and physical violence prior to being trafficked (Hemmings et al., 2016). In a study performed by Hopper (2017), "the large majority of youth in this sample (91%) reported a history of victimization prior to the trafficking experience, including directly experiencing physical, sexual, or verbal/psychological abuse, as well as witnessing violence". Having experienced victimization in the home, they were already vulnerable and at risk of being trafficked. This further demonstrates the need to provide adequate

emotional support to these individuals, after their escape from trafficking, as they will now have increased trauma.

Consideration needs to be given to how trauma is defined and treated in different cultures. For example, Western psychologists derive certain criteria (such as independence, self-containment, and autonomy) for psychologically healthy individuals based on a rigid normative stance, derived mostly from studies of white males. This rigid normative stance values certain cultural and gender identity formations more than others. Thus, many minorities, especially minority women, risk being defined as pathological. (Machery, 2010)

# 4.2 Physical Healthcare

Physical health needs are also of great concern to post-trafficking victims, because their activities of daily living have been affected. Children who are involved in sex trafficking may be more prone to physical illness because of their immature physical systems (Bernat & Winkeller, 2010). There are a number of physical issues associated with trafficking victims, which include headaches, stomachaches, difficulty breathing, and hair falling out, frequent colds, low blood pressure, sexually transmitted diseases, frequent urinary tract infections, and issues with bowel incontinence (Hopper, 2017). These are just some of the physical symptoms that these individuals can encounter. (Hopper, 2017) states that some of the girls reported head injuries resulting in confusion, mental slowing and other cognitive difficulties. It can be said that these symptoms may represent the body's way of experiencing psychological stress through physical symptoms, which can be associated with complex trauma (Hopper, 2017). With that said, there is an urgent need for these victims to seek medical attention to help deal with their physical issues, in addition to their emotional health.

#### 4.3 Peer-to-Peer Support

There is a necessity for the victims of human trafficking to have contact with others who also have been victims of human trafficking. Often, victims are unwilling to acknowledge the trauma and exploitation they have experienced. As a result, many survivors are reluctant to seek treatment. However, when working with others who have had similar experiences, many individuals feel more at ease. A study of a group intervention for sexually exploited girls by Hickle & Roe-Sepowitz (2013) showed that discussing their experiences in a group setting with others who had been through the same type of trauma, led to a positive impact of feeling supported and validated by others. This mutual aid allowed

them to feel comfortable in opening up about their experiences and understanding that they were not alone. As well as having a group of peers to talk to, there are recommendations for a "co-facilitator, who is also a survivor of sex trafficking, as this individual will be able to build rapport, provide a sense of authenticity, and be a role model to group members" (Hickle & Roe-Sepowitz, 2013). With the use of a co-facilitator and a trained professional, this group intervention can be very effective. However, it is important to keep in mind that group intervention does not work for everyone, and individual therapy may need to be considered.

Peer-to-peer support has a positive influence on the recovery of human trafficking victims. As little research has been done on the effects of trafficking on victims, there are not many peer support groups available. One organization held weekly group counselling sessions specifically for women from Southeast Asia, and this meeting allowed women to connect with one other, eventually referring to each other as family (Global Alliance against Trafficking in Women, n.d.). In U.S. Hickle and Roe-Sepowitz (2013), describe a pilot group intervention created for domestic minor sex trafficking victims. This group intervention revealed that being in a group setting with peers who had the same experiences made the participants feel open and comfortable, and they were able to come to terms with their experiences and reduce stigma, allowing them to accept and seek treatment (Hickle & Sepowitz, 2013).

There are also peer-to-peer services available through *Girls Educational Mentoring Services* (*GEMS*), a strength-based leadership program which enables women empowerment (Lloyd, n.d). Peer support groups have been proven to provide many therapeutic benefits, as they help to re-build self-confidence and address feelings of isolation (Global Alliance Against Trafficking in Women n.d).

# 4.4 Family Support

Involving the family in helping victims post-trafficking is an important need, as family members can be a great support system for them. However, many family members may not have a full understanding of human trafficking, and this can cause the family to place a stigma on the victim, causing them to feel embarrassed or ashamed. Therefore, it is important to include the family so that they can identify this situation as abuse and as a crime, rather than blaming their family member (Global Alliance Against Trafficking in Women, n.d.).

#### 4.5 Therapeutic Supports

Considering the number of human trafficking survivors suffering from PTSD and other mood and anxiety disorders, there are several therapeutic supports that have been found to be successful in managing the psychological consequences of human trafficking; the most prominent of these therapies being behavioural, cognitive and psychodynamic. Each of these therapies has a positive influence on the patient's behaviours and feelings by altering how the patients understand their experiences (Williamson et al., 2008). Additional therapies include eye movement desensitization and reprocessing, stress inoculation training and exposure therapy (Williamson et al., 2008). Cognitive-behavioural therapy, exposure therapy and stress inoculation training, in particular, have been successful in preventing the development of PTSD when used with female victims of sexual violence.

Additional types of therapy that have proven to be successful are yoga, art therapy, aromatherapy, animal assisted therapy, mindfulness, and breathing techniques. These therapies had a general outcome of an increase in characteristics such as hope, and increased self-awareness, and a decrease in traumarelated symptoms including anxiety and dissociation (Polaris, 2015).

#### 4.6 Employment and Reintegration Services

Many of these individuals may lack the skills necessary to obtain jobs and achieve economic stability after escaping trafficking. In many cases, clients do not receive the full array of the integration services they need, such as assistance in finding and maintaining employment, finding affordable and long-term housing, and help with citizenship status (Powell et al., 2017). Resolving these basic necessities will increase the likelihood of consistent use of services, but without them, some of these individuals will end up back in the trafficking system. Providing ways for victims to have access to services is critical in ensuring that clients continue their care and pursue a healthy path to recovery.

A study by the *Standing Against Global Exploitation Everywhere* (SAGE) project states that many of these people need legal services as well as assistance with benefits (Gibbs, Walters, Lutnick, Miller & Kluckman, 2015). According to researchers, one of the gaps in service provision to victims of human trafficking are inconsistent screening practices (Hemmings et al., 2016). In order to effectively treat these individuals, it is important to be able to identify them, especially in health care settings. Most victims of human trafficking experience complex trauma, and this factor should be considered when developing a screening tool. The services that are currently available are as follows:

# 4.7 Housing Services

Victims of sex trafficking are often offered apartments or rooms to live in while they work for their pimps, which makes escaping the trade rather difficult, due to fear of homelessness and feelings of dependency on their pimps. This is where housing services provide care and protection to these women during vulnerable times. Surveys provided to fourteen different agencies that work with sex trafficking victims in California showed that housing was the biggest need, "with 43% of the respondents indicating this as a specific need for the victims." Safe housing services give women an opportunity to start fresh, repair their damaged emotional, mental, and physical health through counselling, as well as having a support system to help them find stable employment. This inevitably decreases the chances of their returning to the sex trade.

Unfortunately, as of now, housing services for human trafficking victims remain scarce in Canada, and the services available are inadequate, which further strengthens the sex trade. Some of the major issues with current housing services are the 'male-centered' housing models which enforce strict curfews, the lack of emotional support towards women's healing, and failure to provide resources for women to find employment (Chettiar, Deering, Lazarus, Nabess & Shannon, 2011). These flaws can contribute to women back peddling into exploitation.

#### 4.8 Medical Service Screening Tools

One of the main issues for medical services, including emergency department and other hospital services, is the lack of personal skills to identify survivors of human trafficking at the point of care, and provide them with adequate services, including appropriate referral and follow up. In the U.S., several screening tools for healthcare professionals have been proposed. A recent study in the U.S. examined the effectiveness of screening tools in emergency departments to identify victims of sex trafficking. The study also compared the sensitivity to the issue of emergency physicians and determined the most effective questions for identifying adult victims of sex trafficking. The conclusion of this study is that identifying victims of sex trafficking through a single questionnaire may be sufficient to recognize all adult victims of sex trafficking (Mumma, Scofield, Mendoza, Toofan, Youngunpipatkul & Hernandez, 2017).

#### 4.9 Rehabilitation and Substance Abuse Services

Those patients suffering from substance abuse will need therapeutic supports as well. It is important to not only address the substance abuse itself, but also the underlying trauma that caused the substance abuse, or the treatment is not likely to be effective (Williamson et al., 2008). Other services available, as stated by the Department of Justice Canada (n.d), include community service agencies, detox programs and treatment centres, hospital services, and housing. Combining trauma and substance abuse treatment are recommended as they are mutually exclusive. (Covington S. 2008).

#### 4.10 Services for Men

There is a lack of services available for men, and this is often because of the assumption that men do not seek psychological help, because of the stigma of showing emotions. This represents a large area of unmet needs, because "Men who have been trafficked have similar mental health problems and needs as trafficked women" (Global Alliance Against Trafficking in Women, n.d.). As the needs are similar for both men and women, it is important that there are services available equally to all.

#### 4.11 Proximity of Services

While there are some services available, there are not many, and they are often spread over large areas. This forces clients to have to travel long distances, and without their own means of transportation, this might mean long rides on public transportation (Powell et al., 2017). Some victims stated that they were forced to move back to the same area where the trafficking took place, and this meant that they ran into their traffickers. When this happens, clients no longer attend their appointments and no longer receive treatment. Therefore, the location, number, and proximity of available services is crucial for maintenance of treatment.

#### 4.12 Why Services are Not Used

Victims' needs are not met partially due to lack of availability of services, but also due to a reluctance to use them. Many young people choose not to use these services for fear of being reported, based on prior maltreatment or their current trafficking engagement, especially for women with children due to apprehension issues (Gibbs et al., 2015). A variety of projects were evaluated such as SAGE, STOP-IT and Street work, and the median length of time during which participants engaged in these services ranged from 65 days, 117 days, and 15 days respectively. It was noted that the reason for clients to discontinue services was the absence of other means to meet survival needs (Gibbs et al., 2015). This

demonstrates that these victims do not feel safe to come forward and seek help, for fear of being reported. They need assistance to see themselves as victims of crime rather than targets of blame.

# 4.13 What Services are Lacking?

While there are effective services available, there are still aspects of these services that need to be improved upon. Powell et al. (2017) stated that if there was no Case Manager or main point of contact, the client did not receive the full range of services that were available, due to miscommunication or poor coordination (pg. 4). In addition, there is a shortage of mental health professionals who are trained to address the unique needs of human trafficking survivors. When not properly trained, the treatment can be ineffective or even cause more harm (Williamson et al., 2008).

There is also a lack of evidence-based trauma treatment that works with this population. Researchers need to move beyond anecdotal stories to produce more studies with rigorous designs and methodologies (Powell, Dickins & Stoklosa, 2017). Further trauma-informed healthcare is needed to care for victims of human trafficking. This care must be culturally sensitive in order to meet particular needs (Hemmings et.al. 2016).

It is important to mention that aboriginal women, women from other countries, women with disabilities and vulnerable women, in general, may have unique needs that may require culturally appropriate services for them. There is a need in the VAW field in general and particularly in human trafficking to move beyond obtaining anecdotal feedback to conducting effective evaluations to advance learning (CREVAWC, 2011). Services should be evaluated so that they are evidence based.

For example, the review of the eleven trainings for service providers working in the field of human trafficking in the United States found that very few projects contained evaluative components, and even fewer conducted impact evaluation (Powell, Dickins & Stoklosa, 2017).

Other considerations include a lack of gender sensitive language and culture specific services for clients. This can change how survivors respond to this care and could see this as a barrier (Powell et al., 2017). There needs to be cultural consideration regarding referrals to counselling, as victims come from many different cultures, and we cannot assume that women or men from all cultures would respond to counselling. Many victims from developing countries may not necessarily go to counselling (Yakusho, 2009):

Western approaches, such as counselling, may not be appropriate for this client group [43]. In qualitative work by Aron et al. [39], victims described wanting other services, outside of one-to-one therapy, to address their emotional needs such as acupuncture. Victims described their experiences of one-to-one therapy as often shameful and blaming, and they found that western-style talk therapy did not always resonate with their cultural backgrounds (Hemmings et al., 2016, pg. 5)

As stated by (Hickle & Roe-Sepowitz, 2014), there is a need for the development of residential treatment centers, group homes, foster care agencies and homeless and runaway youth shelters that can help victims in their transitional period to recovery (p. 5).

# 4.14 Training and Evaluation

The Canadian Government policy and practices surrounding human trafficking, since the adoption of the United Nations (UN) Protocol on Trafficking in 2000, have focused on the three key areas of the Protocol: prevention of human trafficking, protection of trafficking victims, and the prosecution of traffickers. (Martinez, Hanley, & Gomez, 2005). The Canadian government has already invested substantial resources in these areas, and progress has been made in Canadian responses. However, there are still challenges that need to be overcome. A missing approach in the overall strategy is the introduction of training that focuses on the trauma experience of survivors. This would shift the current focus away from that of crime and security, and would place more importance on the protection and promotion of the human rights of trafficking victims.

The emotional, social and health consequences of human trafficking bring survivors into contact not only with the police and judicial system, but also with health and social services systems and providers, thus providing the potential for identification and intervention. A robust social and healthcare system response, however, requires a workforce that is aware of the health and social impact of this issue; educated about how to identify and treat affected individuals in a compassionate, culturally aware, and trauma-informed manner; and trained about how to collaborate efficiently with law enforcement, case management, and advocacy partners.

There are on-line trainings and other trainings described in the literature regarding human trafficking, designed for a social health care audience. Most of them differ substantially in format, length, scope, and intended audience. Topic areas covered by these resources include trafficking definitions and scope, health consequences, victim identification, appropriate treatment, referral to services, legal issues, and security. None of the educational resources have been rigorously evaluated. There is a clear need to develop, implement, and evaluate high-quality education and training programs that focus on human trafficking for healthcare providers (Ahn et al., 2012).

Sexual Assault/Rape Crisis Centre of Peel received a grant from the Ministry of the Attorney General to develop an interactive CD/DVD manual that was distributed in Peel to train people on identifying victims of human trafficking. The manual was named "Breaking the Chains of Human Trafficking — Linking Community Support in Peel". The manual was distributed to settlement agencies, police, hospitals, victims' service groups and other organizations. (Brampton Guardian. 2012), (Mississauga News, 2012). One other training have been developed and implemented in the Region of Peel in recent years.

Peel Human Trafficking Service Providers Committee launched a new Human Trafficking Protocol for Peel region. This committee, which is chaired by Peel Regional Police, is comprised of more than 22 community, police and medical service providers. Peel Police has been training services providers in the application of the protocol with the aim of raising awareness and increasing knowledge of specialized support services available to victims in Peel. (Peel Regional Police, 2016). Peel Police also offered a Human Trafficking Training of Trainers to communities and services providers.

# Conclusion

This review applied a theory of change, which asserts that women's rights are human rights and that progressive changes happen when diverse and independent women's movements have vision, strength, resilience and collective power. There is a growing need to analyse the effect of the feminization of poverty and the impact it has on human trafficking and prostitution.

Services, programs, training, policies and other resources are still in the process of building survivor's resilience into the development and implementation of resources. There is still insufficient

information and a lack of understanding that survivors will never be the same after the trauma and distressing experience. What triggers their reactions? How do they relate to males after the trafficking end? Every transformational journey is unique, but heroic survivors have two things in common. First, they integrate the traumatic experience into their public identities and make the experience a defining part of their life stories. Second, they talk or write about it in a way that has an inspiring effect on others.

We still need to learn the way in which survivors can leave the sex industry, and how we can effectively support women who want to move on. The Government of Canada has developed and implemented its tools for the prosecution of traffickers, thereby responding to most of the prosecution recommendations of the UN Protocol 2000. Different government agencies are also coordinating their efforts to implement prevention projects, both in policy development and collaborations. However, the more structural elements of prevention have yet to be adequately sourced, including awareness-raising campaigns, education campaigns, and training.

While trafficking in persons has become a worldwide concern, current data collection activities reveal many shortcomings: Data are limited in scope, incomparable and insufficient to ascertain the true extent of the problem in Canada.

Overall, there are significant unmet needs of this population, and a lack of evidence-based research to focus on the main issues associated with this type of trauma. We still lack a meaningful collection of data. Data is necessary to develop evidence-based prevention, services and programs.

There are different views on what constitutes trafficking, and those working in the field usually walk the fine-line of language and definitions that apply to human trafficking and prostitution. There are divisive tensions between the view of a sex worker as a victim of human trafficking and those who view sex trade as legitimate work that needs protection. Early identification of human trafficking survivors is needed. The development of trauma screening tools should be of great assistance to professionals who are working in human trafficking.

There are a variety of services available, but not nearly enough to facilitate recovery for a larger number of human trafficking survivors. It is important that services are multidimensional, such as treating addiction and trauma, when needed. For example, there should be no wait times for essential services, as women will be more tempted to go back into the industry. Additionally, all services need to be mobile and available at the place that is geographically close to survivors. Travelling long distance to

receive services is not an option for women who are trafficked. This leaves room for further research, especially with survivors themselves. Overall, the services found to be most effective regarding treatment of this population are peer-to-peer support, physical health support, and reintegration services. Strategies for housing services need to be developed, considering the particular needs of this population. Services and programs should be mobile to reach a population which is transient. Conducting further research will determine ways to better implement strategies to serve victims and survivors of human trafficking. An area which needs further development is education and awareness training for professionals and the general public. Online training and other modalities of training that have been developed do not all have proper evaluation processes attached to them. There is a great need to develop evaluations, which measure impact.

As the execute director of United Nations Women said we are all better off when we open our hearts and resources to one of the most vulnerable sectors of our population, the girls and women who end up in human trafficking.

# References

- Abas, M., Ostrovschi, N., Prince, M., Gorceag, V., Trigub, C., Oram. S. (2013). Risk factors for mental health disorders in women survivors of human trafficking: A historical cohort study. *BMC Psychiatry*, *13*(204).
- Ahn R, Elaine J. Alpert, Genevieve Purcell, Wendy Macias Konstantopoulos, Anita McGahan, Elizabeth Cafferty, Melody Eckardt, Kathryn L. Conn, Kate Cappetta, Thomas F. Burke, (2013) Human trafficking: review of educational resources for health. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. March 2013Volume 44, Issue 3, Pages 283–289
- Alvarez, B., M., Alessi, E. J., (2012). Human Trafficking Is More than Sex Trafficking and Prostitution.

  \*\*Affilia.\* Vol 27(2). Retrieved from <a href="http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0886109912443763#articleCitationDownloadCo">http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0886109912443763#articleCitationDownloadCo</a>

  \*\*nta\*
- Andreas, P & Greenhill M. (eds.) *American Journal of Preventative Medicine 44*(3). 283-289
  9.10.1016/j.amepre.2012.10.025. Sex, Drugs and Body Counts: The Politics of Numbers in Global Crime and Conflict Ithaca: Cornell University Press (2010) pp. 46-74
- Aron, L., Zweig, J. M., & Newmark, L. C., (2006). Comprehensive services for survivors of human trafficking: Findings from clients from three communities: Final report. Washington, D.C.: Urban Institute: Justice Policy Center.

  http://webarchive.urban.org/UploadedPDF/411507\_human\_trafficking.pdf Retrieved October 2017
- Baker, D. A., & Grover, E. A. (2013). Responding to victims of human trafficking: Interagency awareness, housing services, and spiritual care. *Social Work & Christianity, 40*(3), 308-321.

  Retrieved from

  <a href="http://ezproxy.library.yorku.ca/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/1515992317?accountid=15182">http://ezproxy.library.yorku.ca/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/1515992317?accountid=15182</a>
- Baldwin, S., Eisenman, D., Sayles, J., Ryan, G., & Chuang, K. (2011). Identification of human trafficking victims in health care settings. *Health and Human Rights, 13*(1), 36-49. http://www.jstor.org/stable/health Umarigh.13.1.36 Retrieved October 2017
   Barret N. (2013) An Assessment of Sex Trafficking in Canada. Canadian Women's Foundation

- Bernat, F., & Winkeller, H. (2010). Human sex trafficking: The global becomes local. *Women & Criminal Justice*, 20(1-2), 186-192.
- Bisson, J.L., Ehlers, A., Matthews, R., Pilling, S., Richards, D., Turner, S. (2007). Psychological treatment for chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry*. *190*: 97-104. 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.021402.
- Boa Ventura de Sousa Santos, Conceição Gomes and Madalena Duarte. Translated by Sheena Caldwell. (2010). The Sexual Trafficking of Women: Representations of Illegality and Victimization *RCCS*Annual Review [Online], 2 | 2010, Online since 01 October 2010, connection on 29 March 2018.

  URL: http://journals.openedition.org/rccsar/247; DOI: 10.4000/rccsar.247
- Brampton Guardian. (2012) <a href="https://www.bramptonguardian.com/news-story/6003377-human-trafficking-growing-in-peel/">https://www.bramptonguardian.com/news-story/6003377-human-trafficking-growing-in-peel/</a> Retrieved April 2018
- Busch-Armendariz, Noel B.; Nsonwu, Maura B.; and Cook Heffron, Laurie (2011)

  Human Trafficking Victims and Their Children: Assessing Needs, Vulnerabilities,
- Canada's National Action Plan to Combat Trafficking -National Action Plan (April 1 2015 –March 3, 2016) <a href="https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/ntnl-ctn-pln-cmbt/index-en.aspx">https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/ntnl-ctn-pln-cmbt/index-en.aspx</a>
  Strengths, and Survivorship. Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk: Vol. 2: Issue. 1, Article 3.
  - Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/childrenatrisk/vol2/iss1/3
- Cary, M., Oram, S., Howard, L. M., Trevillion, K., & Byford, S. (2016). Human trafficking and severe mental illness: An economic analysis of survivors' use of psychiatric services. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(1-8). Doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1541-0
- Cassels, J. (2017) The 20 Reasons Girls enter and Stay in the Sex Industry

  <a href="http://johncassells.com/2017/11/20/the-20-reasons-girls-enter-and-stay-in-the-sex-industry/">http://johncassells.com/2017/11/20/the-20-reasons-girls-enter-and-stay-in-the-sex-industry/</a>

  (Retrieved March 20, 2018)
- Carter V. (2007) The Thin Line between Prostitution and Trafficking. Ethicdaily.com. Columns on Cultural and Media
  - http://www.ethicsdaily.com/the-thin-line-between-prostitution-and-sex-trafficking-cms-23829
- CdeBaca, L., & Sigmon, J. N. (2014). Combating trafficking in persons: a call to action for global health professionals. *Global Health, Science and Practice*, *2*(3), 261–267. http://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-13-0014

- Centre for research and evaluation on violence against women (2011)

  <a href="http://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/site">http://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/site</a>
  2012s/default/files/Evaluation VAW Training October 1 2012.pdf
- Clawson, H., Salomon, A., Goldblatt, G. (2008). Treating the hidden wounds: Trauma treatment and mental health recovery for victims of human trafficking. *Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services*. Washington, DC
- Clawson, H., Dutch, N. (2008). Addressing the needs of victims of human trafficking: Challenges, barriers, and promising practices. *Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services*. Washington, DC
- Clawson, H.J., Small, K., Go, E.S., Myles, B. (2004). Human trafficking in the United States: Uncovering the needs of victims and the service providers who work with them. *Int. J Comp Criminal* 4:68–95.
- Covington S. (2008) Women and Addiction: A Trauma-Informed Approach, Journal of Psychoactive Drugs.
- Davy, D. (2015). Understanding the support needs of human trafficking victims: A review of three human trafficking program evaluations. *Journal of Human Trafficking*, 1(4), 318-337.
- Department of Justice, Canada (February 2015) Handbook for Criminal Justice Practitioners on Trafficking in Persons. Federal/Provincial/Territorial Working Group on Trafficking in Persons.
- Department of State. (2016, June). *Trafficking in persons report*. Retrieved Nov. 2, 2017, from https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258876.pdf
- Deshpande Neha A., Nour Nawal M. (2013) Sex Trafficking of Women and Girls. Review in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2013; 6 (1): e22 e27
- Deshpande N, Nour N. (2013) Review in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2013; 6(1): e22-e27

  Department of Justice Canada (n.d). from the ground up: working with survivors for Survivors.
- Deshpande, N. A., & Nour, N. M. (2013). Sex Trafficking of Women and Girls. *Reviews* in Obstetrics and Gynecology, 6(1), e22–e27.
- Doherty, S., Oram, S., Siriwardhana, C., Abas, M. (2016). Suitability of measurements used to assess mental health outcomes in men and women trafficked for sexual and labour exploitation: A systematic review. *Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*(5). 464-471.

- Domoney, J., Hoard, L. M., Abas, M., Broadbent, M., & Oram, S. (2015). Mental health service responses to human trafficking: A qualitative study of professionals' experiences of providing care. *BMC Psychiatry*, *15* 289-297. Doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0679-3
- Dovydaitis T. (2010) Human Trafficking: role of the health provider. Journal of Midwifery Women Health. 2010:55:462-467. (PMC free article PubMed)
- Elislambouly, D. (2018) Highlights on Human Trafficking Statistics Canada, Ontario and Peel
- Feingold David, Kings, 2000 Princes and Mountaineers, ethnicity, opium and the sate on the Burma border (paper presented at the SSRC "Beyond Borders Conference" CEI, Paris July 1-3, 2000
- Gajic, veljanoski, O., & Stewart, D. (2007). Women trafficked into prostitution: Determinants, human rights and health needs. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *44*(3), 338-358.
- Gibbs, D., Walters, J., Lutnick, A., Miller, S., & Kluckman, M. (2015). Services to domestic minor victims of sex trafficking: Opportunities for engagement and support. *Children and Youth Services*Review, 54(7), 1-7.
- Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (n.d). *Unmet needs: emotional support and care after trafficking.*
- Goldenberg, S. (2015). Supporting the mental health of trafficked people. *Lancet Psychiatry*, *2*(23). 1048-1049.
- Government of Canada. Justice Law Webpages (June 2014) Protection of Communities and Exploited

  Persons Act. <a href="http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/AnnualStatutes/2014-25/page-1.html">http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/AnnualStatutes/2014-25/page-1.html</a> Retrieved

  May 2018
- Goździak, E. B., Bump M. N., (2008). Data and Research on Human Trafficking: Bibliography of Research-Based Literature. Retrieved from Data and Research on Human Trafficking:

  Bibliography of Research-Based Literature
- Groce, N. E. (2004) Global survey on HIV/AIDS and disability. Washington, DC: World Bank
  Retrieved March 28 2018

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington">https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington,</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington">https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington,</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington">https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington">https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.+Washington</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.html">https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.html</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.html">https://scholar.google.ca/scholar?q=Global+survey+on+HIV/AIDS+and+disability.html</a>

  <a href="https://scholar.google.ca/scholar.google
- Hemmings S., Jakobowitz1 S., Abas M., Bick D., Howard L., Stanley N., Zimmerman C. and Oram S (2016). Responding to the Health Needs of Survivors of Human Trafficking: A Systematic Review. *BMC health service research*. 16:320 DOI 10.1186/s12913-016-15388

- Hickle, Kristine E and Roe-Sepowitz, Dominique E (2014) Putting the pieces back together: a group intervention for sexually exploited adolescent girls. Social Work with Groups, 37 (2). Pp.99-113. ISSN 0160-9513
- Hodge Dr. (2008) Sexual trafficking in the United Sates: a domestic problem with transnational dimensions. Social Work. 2008; 53:143-152. (PubMed).
- Hopper, E. (2017). Polyvictimization and developmental trauma adaptations in sex trafficked youth. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma, (10)*2, 161—173. Doi: 10.1007/s40653-016-0114-z
- Hossain, M., Zimmerman, C., Abas, M., Light, M., Watts, C. (2010). The relationship of trauma to mental disorders among trafficked and sexually exploited girls and women. American Journal of Public Health, 100(12). 2442-2449. Doi: 10.2105/ajph.2009.173229.
- Human Trafficking growing in Peel. (2012, May 7). *Brampton Guardian Justice*<a href="http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/tp/legis-loi.html">http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/tp/legis-loi.html</a> (Retrieved March 2018)
- Human Trafficking of Women with Disabilities. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.psychiatry.org/
- John Hopkins Project on Line Kidane, W. (2011) Understanding Human Trafficking and its Victims.

  Seattle Journal for Social Justice. Vol. 9 (2), Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.law.sea
  leu.edu/sjsj/vol9/iss2/1
- Kiss, L., Pocock, N., Naisanguansri, V., Suos, S., Dickson, B., Thuy, D., Zimmerman, C. (2015). Health of men, women, and children in post-trafficking services in Cambodia, Thailand, and Vietnam: An observational cross-sectional study. *Lancet Global Health*, *3*(3). e154-e161.
- Lam E. (2016) Anti-Trafficking campaign harms migrant sex workers. *NOW magazine. February 10,* 2016
- Lazarus, L., Chettiar, J., Deering, K., Nabess, R., & Shannon, K. (2011). Risky health environments:

  Women sex workers' struggles to find safe, secure and non-exploitative housing in Canada's poorest postal code. *Social Science & Medicine, 73*(11), 1600-1607.

  http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.09.015 Retrieved from http://ezproxy.library.yorku.ca/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/923956174?ac countid=15182
- Lloyd, R. (n.d). from victim to survivor, from survivor to leader. Girls Educational
- Logan, T.K., Walker, R., Hunt, G. (2009). Understanding Human Trafficking in the United States. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*. Vol. 10(1). Retrieved from

- http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1524838008327262#articleCitationDownload Container
- McCalin NM, Garity SE. (2011) Sex trafficking and the exploitation of adolescents. Journal of Obstetrics. & Gynecology Neonatal Nursing. 2011; 40: 243-252 (PubMed).
- McCauley, H.L., Decker, M.R., Silverman, J.G. (2010). Trafficking experiences and violence victimization of sex-trafficked young women in Cambodia. *Int. J Gynecol Obstet, 110*(3): 266-267. 10.1016/j.ijgo.2010.04.016.
- Machery. E (2010). Explaining why experimental behavior varies across cultures: A missing step in "The weirdest people in the world?" Journal of *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*.

  Mississauga News May (2012) <a href="https://www.mississauga.com/news-story/3125559-taking-steps-to-counter-human-trafficking/">https://www.mississauga.com/news-story/3125559-taking-steps-to-counter-human-trafficking/</a> Retrieved April 2018
- McGough, M. Q., (2013). Ending Modern-Day Slavery: Using Research to Inform U.S. Anti-Human Trafficking Efforts. *National Institute of Justice*. Retrieved from https://www.nij.gov/journals/271/pages/anti-human-trafficking.aspx
- Mohajerin, S.K. Human Trafficking: Modern Day Slavery in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. Canadian Foreign Policy, ISSN 1192-6422, Vol. 2, No. 3, 125 -132
- Morency, Carole (2004) "Child Trafficking in Canada" Paper presented at the International Bureau for Children's Rights Conference, Montreal, November

  20.<a href="http://www.ibcr.org/PAGE\_EN/2004%20conference%20documents/Morency\_ENG.pdf">http://www.ibcr.org/PAGE\_EN/2004%20conference%20documents/Morency\_ENG.pdf</a>

  (Retrieved March 2018)
- Mumma, BE, Scofield ME, Mendoza LP, Toofan Y, Youngunpipatkul J. Hernandez, B (2017)Screening for victims of sex trafficking in the Emergency Departmet: A Pilot Program. West J Emergency Medicine 2017 Jun: 19(4): 616-620. Doi: 10.5811/Westjem.2017.2.31924 (n.d.). Retrieved March 30, 2018, from <a href="https://www.butterflysw.org/about\_us">https://www.butterflysw.org/about\_us</a> (n.d.). Retrieved March 30, 30, from <a href="https://www.who.int/">https://www.who.int/</a>
- National Action Plan to Combat Human Trafficking 2012-2013 Annual Report on Progress. (2018, January 31). Retrieved March 30, 2018, from <a href="https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/ntnl-ctn-pln-cmbt-prgrss-2013/index-en.aspx">https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/ntnl-ctn-pln-cmbt-prgrss-2013/index-en.aspx</a>

- National Center of Safe Supportive Learning Environments (2017). *Risk Factors and Indicators*.

  Retrieved from https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/human-trafficking-americas-schools/risk-factors-and-indicators
- National Crime Prevention Centre of Public Safety Canada (2009) Neighbourhood Characteristics and the Distribution of Police-reported Crime in Toronto (Charron).
- National Human Trafficking Hotline (n.d). The Victims https://polarisproject.org/victims-traffickers Mentoring Services.
- O'Connell Davison Julia. (2006) "Will the Real Sex Slave Please Stand UP?" Feminist Review 83, No. 1 (August 2006): 4 -22.
- Okech, D., Morreau, W., & Benson, K. (2012). Human trafficking: Improving victim identification and service provision. *International Social Work, 55*(4), 488-503.
- Ontario Ministry on the Status of Women (2016) Ontario Strategy to End Human Trafficking.

  <a href="https://www.mcss.gov.on.ca/en/mcss/programs/humantrafficking/index.aspx">https://www.mcss.gov.on.ca/en/mcss/programs/humantrafficking/index.aspx</a>

  Retrieved May 2018
- Oram, S., Khondoker, M., Abas, M., Broadbent, M., & Howard, L. (2015). Characteristics of trafficked adults and children with severe mental illness: A historical cohort study. *Lancet Psychiatry*, *2*(12). 1084-1091.
- Oram, S., Stöckl, H., Busza, J., Howard, L., & Zimmerman, C. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence and the physical, mental, and sexual health problems associated with human trafficking: Systematic review. *PLoS Medicine.*, *9*(5), 1-13. Doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001224
- Orme, J., and Ross-Sheriff, F. (2015). Sex trafficking: Policies, programs, and services. *Social Work,* 60(4), 287-294. Doi:10.1093/sw/swv031
- Ostrovschi, N.V., Prince, M.J., Zimmerman, C., Hotineanu, M.A., Gorceag, L.T., Gorceag, V.I., Abas, M. (2011). Women in post-trafficking services in Moldova: diagnostic interviews over two time periods to assess returning women's mental health. *BMC Public Health 11*(232) doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-232
- Oxman-Martinez J. Jill Hanley, Fanny Gomez (2005)
- Panigabutra-Roberts, A., (2012). Human Trafficking in the United States. Part I. State of the Knowledge. Faculty Publications, UNL Libraries. 290. Doi: 10.1080/01639269. 2012.736330

- Paz Arauco, V (2014) Strengthening Social Justice to address intersecting inequalities post 2015. https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assests/publications-opinion-files/9213.pdf (Retrieved March 2018).
- Peel Regional Police Annual Report (2016)

  <a href="https://www.peelpolice.ca/en/aboutus/resources/Publications/2016AnnualReport-Final.pdf">https://www.peelpolice.ca/en/aboutus/resources/Publications/2016AnnualReport-Final.pdf</a>
- Phasha, T., Myaka, L. (2014) Sexuality and sexual abuse involving teenagers with intellectual disability:

  Community conceptions in a rural village of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, Sexuality and

  Disability, 32, 153-165. Doi 10. 1007/s11195-014-9344-x Google Scholar
- Polaris. (2015). Promising practices: An overview of trauma-informed therapeutic support for survivors of human trafficking.
- Potocky, M. (2010). Effectiveness of services for victims of international human trafficking: An exploratory evaluation. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies, 8*(4). 359-385
- Powell, C., Asbill, M., Louis, E., & Stoklosa, H. (2017). Identifying gaps in human trafficking mental health service provision.
- Pure Point International (2017). Washington DC: Our Missing Black Girls- Race and

  Human Trafficking? Retrieved fromhttp://the-purepoint.com/washington-dc-ourmissing-black-girls%E2%80%8A-%E2%80%8Arace-and-human-trafficking/
- Reid, J. (2010). Doors wide shut: Barriers to the successful delivery of victim services for domestically trafficked minors in a southern U.S. metropolitan area. *Women & Criminal Justice, 20*(1-2). 147-166.
- Reid, J. A. J., Haskell, R.A. (2015) Family-facilitated juvenile sex trafficking. Journal of Crime and Justice, 38, 361-376. Doi:10.1080/0735648X2014.967965. Google Scholar
- Reid, J (2018) Sex Trafficking of Girls with Intellectual Disabilities: An Exploratory Mixed Methods Study. Sexual Abuse Vol. 30 (2) 107-131 © The author (s) 2016
- Riutort, M., Rupnarain, S., and Masoud, L. (n.d.). Framework on anti-racism, anti-oppression and Equity: Factoring the determinants of health and persisting inequities in services delivered for survivors of violence in Canada. Mississauga, ON. Canada. *Peel Institute on Violence Prevention Family Service of Peel*
- Royal Canadian Mounted Police National to Combat Trafficking (2012)

  <a href="http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection-2014/grc-rcmp/PS64-104-2012-eng.pdf">http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection-2014/grc-rcmp/PS64-104-2012-eng.pdf</a>

  Retrieved May 2018

- Stats Canada. (2014). *Trafficking in persons in Canada, 2014.* Retrieved Nov. 13, 2017 from <a href="https://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2016001/article/14641-eng.htm">https://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2016001/article/14641-eng.htm</a> (Stingler et al. 1990).
- Task Force on Trafficking of Women and Girls in Canada. (2013, May). *An assessment of sex trafficking*.

  Retrieved Nov. 13, 2017 from http://www.canadiancentretoendhumantrafficking.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Assessment-of-Sex-Trafficking-in-Canada.pdf
- The National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls. 2017. *Interim report:*Our women and girls are scared. Retrieved Nov. 14, 2017 from <a href="http://www.mmiwg-ffada.ca/files/ni-mmiwg-interim-report-en.pdf">http://www.mmiwg-ffada.ca/files/ni-mmiwg-interim-report-en.pdf</a>
- Two charged in Toronto in international human trafficking case: Police. (2017, November 28).

  Retrieved March 18, 2018, from <a href="https://www.ctvnews.ca/canada/two-charged-in-toronto-in-rrrinternational-human-trafficking-case-police-1.3698054">https://www.ctvnews.ca/canada/two-charged-in-toronto-in-rrrinternational-human-trafficking-case-police-1.3698054</a>
- The Peel Institute on Violence Prevention's Report (2017). Violence against women: A public health concern. Mississauga, ON. Canada. *Peel Institute on Violence Prevention Family Service of Peel*
- The Beijing declaration and Platform for Action Turns 20: Summary Report available on line;

  <a href="http://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/document/1776The%20Beijing%declaration%20">http://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/document/1776The%20Beijing%declaration%20</a>

  and%20platform520for520Action%20turns%2020.pdf
- Training US health care professionals on human trafficking: where do we go from here? **Article** *in*Medical Education Online 22(1) January 2017 *with* 4 Reads Clydette Powell, Kirsten Dickins,

  Hanni Stoklosa
- Twigg, N. M., (2017). Comprehensive car model for sex trafficking survivors. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 49(3), 259-266. Doi: 10.1111.jnu.12285
- United Nations Convention on Transnational Organized Crime and its protocols on trafficking in persons and migrant smuggling.(2018) (<a href="http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/index.html?ref=menuside">http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/index.html?ref=menuside</a> (Retrieved March15, 2018) R. (n.d.).
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Retrieved March 30, 2018, from http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/index.html?ref=menuside
- UNODC (2008) Strategy for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women for the United Nation on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) 61st session of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs2008)(http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/frontpage/2018/March/empowering-women-and-

- girls-when-tackling-drugs-and-crime\_-unodc--united-nations-in-vienna-launch-new-gender-equality-strategy.html (Retrieved March 15 2018).
- Understanding and addressing violence against women: Human trafficking. (2012). Retrieved March 18, 2018, from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77394/1/WHO\_RHR\_12.42\_eng.pdf
- United Nations Convention on Transnational Organized Crime and its protocols on trafficking in persons and migrant smuggling. (<a href="http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/index.html?ref=menuside">http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/index.html?ref=menuside</a> accessed March 15, 2018)
- Vicente, P. (2017, May 6). Human Trafficking in Peel. *Brampton Focus*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.bramptonfocus.ca/human-trafficking-peel/">https://www.bramptonfocus.ca/human-trafficking-peel/</a>
- Viergever, R.F., West H., Borland, R., Zimmerman, C. Health Care Providers and Human Trafficking: What do They Know, What do They Need to Know? Findings from

  The Middle East, the Caribbean, and Central America. *Frontiers in Public Health*. 2015; 3:6. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2015.00006.
- Violence Prevention Task Force (n.d.) Violence: The social context of Violence. *Violence Prevention Task*Force
- Womankind Worldwide. (n.d.). Retrieved March 30, 2018, from <a href="https://www.womankind.org.uk/">https://www.womankind.org.uk/</a>
- Weitzer, R. (2014). New Directions in Research on Human Trafficking. The ANNALS of

  The American Academy of Political and Social Science. Vol 653, Issue 1, pp. 6 24. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716214521562
- Williamson, E., Dutch, N., & Clawson, H. C. (2008). Evidence-based mental health treatment for the victims of human trafficking. *Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services*. Washington, DC
- Williamson, E., Dutch, N., & Clawson, H. C. (2008). National symposium on the health needs of human trafficking victims: Post-symposium brief. Washington, DC:Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Wirsing, Knowles E. (2012). Outreach, collaboration and services to survivors of human trafficking: The Salvation Army ATOP-IT program's work in Chicago, Illinois. *Social Work & Christianity*, *39*(4), 466-480.

- Yakushko, O. A Review for Mental Health Professionals (2009) University of Nebraska Lincoln Digital Commons@University of Nebraska Lincoln Educational Psychology Papers and Publications Educational Psychology, Department of 1-1-
- Woman Kind. Standing with the Change Makers. <a href="https://www.womankind.org.uk/policy-and-campaigns/resources/standing-with-the-changemakers">https://www.womankind.org.uk/policy-and-campaigns/resources/standing-with-the-changemakers</a> Retrieved March 20 2018
- Zimmerman C., Hossain M., Yun K., Roche B., Morison L., Watts C. (2006). Stolen Smiles: The physical and psychological health consequences of women and adolescents trafficked in Europe. London, England: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Retrieved from http://genderviolence.l shtm.ac.uk/ files/Stolen- Smiles-Trafficking-and-Health-2006.pdf Google Scholar